
CABINET MEMBER FOR SAFE AND ATTRACTIVE NEIGHBOURHOODS 
 
Venue: Town Hall,  

Moorgate Street, 
Rotherham.  S60  2TH 

Date: Wednesday, 5th September, 
2012 

  Time: 9.00 a.m. 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
1. To determine if the following matters are to be considered under the categories 

suggested, in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended 
March 2006).  

  

 
2. To determine any item which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 

considered later in the agenda as a matter of urgency.  
  

 
3. Minutes of meetings held on 19th March, 23rd April, 28th May and 27nd July, 

2012  

 
- Council Minute Book dated 25th July, 2012 
(Pages 1J-16J refers) 

 
4. No. 51 Middle Avenue, Rawmarsh (Pages 1 - 6) 
  

 
5. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 
Resolved:-  That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the paragraphs, indicated below, of Part I of Schedule 
12A to the Local Government Act 1972 

 
6. Stage 3 Complaint Panel (Pages 7 - 14) 

 
(Exempt under Paragraph 2 of the Act - information (information likely to reveal 
the identity of an individual) 

 
7. Introductory Tenancy Review Panel (Pages 15 - 19) 

 
(Exempt under Paragraph 2 of the Act - information (information likely to reveal 
the identity of an individual) 

 

 



 
 

1.  Meeting: Cabinet Member for Safe and Attractive 
Neighbourhoods 
 

2.  Date: 3rd September 2012 

3.  Title: 51 Middle Avenue, Rawmarsh  
 

4.  Directorate: Neighbourhoods and Adult Services 
 

 
 
5.  Summary 
 
51 Middle Avenue is a vacant council owned three bedroom house in need of 
substantial investment.  
 
The cost of repairs and improvements required to bring the property to a 
lettable standard exceeds the investment threshold of £45,000 for individual 
properties. 
 
In accordance with Minute No 6, Cabinet Member for Safe and Attractive 
Neighbourhoods 28.05.12, properties exceeding the investment threshold will 
be referred to the Cabinet Member for consideration.  
 
This report details the options considered and recommends that investment 
works are undertaken and the property is retained.   
 
 
5. Recommendations 
 
That the Cabinet Member approves: 
 

• Option 1- Retain and Invest 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ROTHERHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL – REPORT TO MEMBERS 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



 
 

7. Proposals and Details 
 
51 Middle Avenue is a traditionally constructed end terraced house located 
within the Rawmarsh area.  
 
A structural assessment has been undertaken which has identified progressive 
structural defects associated with the property as a result of poor property 
foundations, mining damage and tree root damage.  
 
The survey recommends tree removal, underpinning and masonry 
reinforcement works to resolve defects and prevent further structural 
movement.  
 
An assessment has been undertaken of repair needs to bring the property to a 
lettable standard. The total cost of work required is as follows: 

 
� Structural works- £38k (Costs provided by the Building Structures team 

following a structural survey which identified the works required) 
� Void repair works- £15k (Costs based on a Programme Surveyor 

inspection which identified that full decent homes works are required) 
� Total- £53k 

 
7.1 Option Appraisal 
 
The cost of work to bring the property back into use exceeds the investment 
threshold of £45,000 on individual properties. As such, an option appraisal has 
been undertaken to guide investment recommendations.  
 
7.1.1 Option 1- Retain and Invest 
 
The property would be retained in Council ownership, structural works and void 
repairs would be undertaken and the property would be re-let. The Council 
would benefit from the asset value, the annual rental income stream generated 
and continue to provide much needed affordable housing.  
 
The demand for three bedroom houses in this locality is high and there is a low 
turnover of this property type. Only 10 three bedroom properties have become 
available for re-letting since January 2011. The last property that became 
vacant was advertised on 12th October 2011 and received 67 general requests. 
The successful applicant had been on the general waiting list since August 
2004.  
 
However this property requires significantly higher investment than the vast 
majority of vacant homes, to bring it to a lettable standard.  
 
There are sufficient financial resources within 2012/13 One Off Properties and 
Internal Refurbishment Budgets to undertake the required works if the property 
is retained.  
 
This option is recommended.  

Page 2



 
 
7.1.2 Option 2 - Disposal to a Registered Provider 
 
This option would transfer the property to a Registered Provider (RP), with the 
property being renovated and re-let as an affordable unit at the RP’s cost. The 
Council would retain nomination rights for the property. However, the RP would 
benefit from the property asset value and the future net rental income stream.  
Whilst the Council would benefit from a capital receipt; due to the condition of 
the property and the investment burden transferring to the RP, it is likely that 
the disposal would be on the basis of a significantly discounted value.  
 
This option does not provide best value to the council and is therefore not 
recommended.  
 
7.1.3 Option 3 - Open Market Sale  
 
Disposal on the open market would generate a capital receipt to the Council 
which would support the Medium Term Capital Programme.  Disposal would 
also transfer investment liabilities to the new owner. However, specific sale 
conditions would need to be attached in order to ensure that the property is 
brought up to a decent standard by the new owner.  
 
This option is not recommended.  
 
7.1.4 Option 4 – Demolition 
 
The property is attached to two council owned houses. Therefore, we would 
have to undertake party wall works or re-house the tenants of the adjacent 
properties to enable them to be demolished. We would lose three affordable 
housing units and the costs associated with party wall works would be 
extremely high.  
 
A structural assessment has been undertaken within the adjacent dwellings 
which identified slight structural defects with a minimal investment requirement 
to resolve slight cracking to the walls and works are not required immediately.  
 
This option is not recommended.  
 
7.2 Value for Money Comparison 
 
Appendix 1 shows that it would take approximately 19 years to recover the 
investment costs from the estimated rental income.  
 
In value for money terms, investing £53,000 to bring a property back into use 
as an affordable home compares well with the cost of other options for 
delivering affordable housing.  
 
For example,  
 

• The cost to the Council of delivering a similar type new build Council 
home is approximately £128k based on previous build costs.  

Page 3



 

• Based upon a sample of new affordable homes built in partnership with 
RP’s on Council land, the cost to the Council based upon discounted 
land disposal values to facilitate development, was £21,000 and the 
council do not benefit from the asset value and rental income generated 

 
7.3  Ward Member Consultation  
 
The properties are within Ward 10 Rawmarsh. The Ward Members have been 
consulted about the options. Councillors Wright, Hamilton and Whelbourn are 
highly supportive of the retention of the property due to affordable housing 
need within the area.  
 
7.4  Recommendation 
 
The property is located within a sustainable location with demonstrated high 
demand and a low turnover of this property type. 
 
A property valuation has not been undertaken due to the fees associated 
(approximately £600). However it is estimated that we would receive less than 
£40k (based on the sale of a property with a similar level of defects in 2011 
including associated disposal fees). 
 
Therefore, the capital receipt generated would not support the costs of 
replacement with a three bedroom house through new build (estimated at 
£128k) or acquisition (a property on Middle Avenue is currently being marketed 
at £80k which may then require further works to bring to a lettable standard).    
 
Retention of the property will generate a future net rental income stream and 
address high housing demand within this locality.  
 
Having considered the options detailed above, it is recommended that the 
property is retained and works are carried out to enable it to be re-let.  
 
8.    Finance 
 
Resources are available within the 2012/13 HIP One Off Properties and 
Internal Refurbishment Budgets to undertake investment if the property is 
retained. 
 
Subject to approval works will be arranged immediately with approximately 
£53k to be charged to the 2012/13 HIP Programme.  
 
The estimated rental income is £64 per week which totals £3077 per annum. 
Based on this level of income it would take approximately 19 years to recover 
the investment costs.  
 
9.  Risks and Uncertainties 
 
Delays in investment decision making will negatively impact upon performance 
indicators measuring empty homes relet times, rent loss on empty homes and 
Decent Homes targets.  

Page 4



 
Empty homes produce a negative perception of neighbourhoods and a 
negative reaction from customers, particularly at a time of increasing demand 
for affordable homes. 
 
The future tenant of the property may submit their right to buy however a 
proportion of the investment costs would be added to the valuation and 
recovered from the sale of the property.  
 
10.  Policy and Performance Agenda Implications 
 
Timely decision making with regard to investment in empty homes will 
contribute towards improved empty homes relet, void rent loss performance 
and Decent Homes performance indicators. 
 
This proposal will support our vision for Rotherham by helping to create safe 
and healthy communities through the provision of decent affordable housing to 
meet need, choice and demand. 
 
11. Background Papers and Consultation 
 

• Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods, 20th May 2007, Minute No:304 

• Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods, 28th July 2008, Minute No:49  

• Cabinet Member for Housing and Neighbourhoods, 15.2.10, Minute No: 
J138. 

• Cabinet Member for Safe and Attractive Neighbourhoods, 28.05.12. Minute 
No:6  
 
Contact Names:  
 
Lynsey Skidmore, Housing Services Officer, Housing and Communities 
Service, Housing and Neighbourhood Services, Neighbourhoods and Adult 
Services Directorate.  
Telephone: 334950 or lynsey.skidmore@rotherham.gov.uk   
 
Tracie Seals, Programme Delivery Manager, Strategic Housing and Investment 
Service, Housing and Neighbourhood Services, Neighbourhoods and Adult 
Services Directorate. 
Telephone 334969 or tracie.seals@rotherham.gov.uk  

Page 5



Appendix 1

Cost Model - 51 Middle Avenue, Rawmarsh

Costs Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8 Year 9 Year 10 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 Year 14 Year 15 Year 16 Year 17 Year 18 Year 19

Void and Structural Repair Costs 53,000.00£       

Repairs and maintenance costs 1,441.00£         1,477.03£   1,513.95£   1,551.80£   1,590.59£   1,630.36£   1,671.12£   1,712.90£   1,755.72£   1,799.61£   1,844.60£   1,890.72£   1,937.98£   1,986.43£   2,036.10£   2,087.00£   2,139.17£   2,192.65£   2,247.47£   

Management Cost 100.00£            102.50£      105.06£      107.69£      110.38£      113.14£      115.97£      118.87£      121.84£      124.89£      128.01£      131.21£      134.49£      137.85£      141.30£      144.83£      148.45£      152.16£      155.97£      

TOTAL 54,541.00£       1,579.53£   1,619.01£   1,659.49£   1,700.98£   1,743.50£   1,787.09£   1,831.76£   1,877.56£   1,924.50£   1,972.61£   2,021.93£   2,072.47£   2,124.29£   2,177.39£   2,231.83£   2,287.62£   2,344.81£   2,403.43£   

Accumalative Costs 54,541.00£       56,120.53£ 57,739.54£ 59,399.03£ 61,100.00£ 62,843.50£ 64,630.59£ 66,462.35£ 68,339.91£ 70,264.41£ 72,237.02£ 74,258.95£ 76,331.42£ 78,455.71£ 80,633.10£ 82,864.93£ 85,152.55£ 87,497.36£ 89,900.80£ 

Income

Rent 3,077.76£         3,231.65£   3,393.23£   3,562.89£   3,741.04£   3,928.09£   4,124.49£   4,330.72£   4,547.25£   4,774.62£   5,013.35£   5,264.01£   5,527.21£   5,803.58£   6,093.75£   6,398.44£   6,718.36£   7,054.28£   7,407.00£   

Accumalative Rental Income 3,077.76£         6,309.41£   9,702.64£   13,265.53£ 17,006.57£ 20,934.66£ 25,059.15£ 29,389.87£ 33,937.12£ 38,711.73£ 43,725.08£ 48,989.10£ 54,516.31£ 60,319.89£ 66,413.64£ 72,812.08£ 79,530.45£ 86,584.73£ 93,991.72£ 

LOSS(-)/ PROFIT Property Remains in Stock 51,463.24-£       49,811.12-£ 48,036.90-£ 46,133.50-£ 44,093.44-£ 41,908.85-£ 39,571.44-£ 37,072.49-£ 34,402.79-£ 31,552.68-£ 28,511.94-£ 25,269.85-£ 21,815.11-£ 18,135.82-£ 14,219.46-£ 10,052.84-£ 5,622.10-£   912.64-£      4,090.93£   

Financial assumption

1)  an yearly inflation factor of 2.5% was taken into account when calculating the repairs and maintenance cost for a 12 year period

2) a yearly 5% rent cap was taken into account when calculating the rent income over 12 years

Repairs & Maintenance Costs = Average cost per property.

Rent = ££ * 48 rent weeks,  5% rent cap per year

Other Factors:

Housing demand H/M/L H

Sustainable area Y/N Y

Regeneration Area Y/N Y

P
a
g
e
 6



Agenda Item 6 Page 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Agenda Item 7 Page 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted


	Agenda
	4 No. 51 Middle Avenue, Rawmarsh
	51 Middle Avenue Appendix

	6 Stage 3 Complaint Panel
	Anonymous minutes - 25.07.12

	7 Introductory Tenancy Review Panel
	Anonimised Cabinet Report


